ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

SEP 22 2014

Certiorari to Chesterfield County

S.C. Supreme Court

R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

MICHAEL LAMONT WATTS,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-000302

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether Petitioner's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to the effective assistance of counsel were violated when trial counsel failed to request a jury instruction on voluntary manslaughter where there was evidence Petitioner fired his weapon in the heat of passion after he was struck several times during a physical altercation that broke out in a small nightclub?

STATEMENT

A Chesterfield County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner at the May 2005 term of General Sessions for murder, two counts of assault and battery with intent to kill (ABIK), discharging a firearm into an occupied building, possession of a firearm in a public building, escape, and, at the April 2006 term, for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. App. 517-526; App. 508-509. His case was called to trial on July 30, 2007 before the Honorable Paul M. Burch, and a jury. App. 1. Assistant Solicitors Franklin Joyner and Kevin Hales represented the state, and James P. Rogers represented Petitioner. App. 1.

After the state rested, Judge Burch granted a directed verdict for the possession of a firearm in a public building charge and for one count of ABIK. App. 273, l. 15 – 274, l. 9. On August 1, 2007, the jury found Petitioner guilty of the remaining charges. App. 411, l. 1 – 412, l. 1. He was sentenced by Judge Burch to life without parole for murder, twenty years concurrent for ABIK, five years concurrent for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, ten years concurrent for discharging a firearm into an occupied building, and one year concurrent for escape. App. 416, l. 8 – 417, l. 2.

The South Carolina Court of Appeals dismissed Petitioner's direct appeal pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967). State v. Watts, Op. No. 2010-UP-019 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed January 25, 2010).

On July 2, 2010, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 419-426. The state filed a return to this application dated September 28, 2010. App. 427-431. The matter proceeded to an evidentiary hearing on July 16, 2013 before the Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr. App. 432. Assistant Attorney General Karen C. Ratigan represented the state, and Tara

Shurling represented Petitioner. App. 432. By order dated October 18, 2013, Judge Cothran denied Petitioner relief. App. 508-516.

This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

Petitioner's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to the effective assistance of counsel were violated when trial counsel failed to request a jury instruction on voluntary manslaughter where there was evidence Petitioner fired his weapon in the heat of passion after he was struck several times during a physical altercation that broke out in a small nightclub.

Relevant Trial Facts

The charges against Petitioner stemmed from a shooting at Club Matrix, a small nightclub located in Pageland, South Carolina. It was undisputed that a physical altercation broke out on the dance floor after midnight on November 28, 2004 and that Petitioner was involved in this fight. Immediately after the altercation, Petitioner left the nightclub, retrieved a gun from his car, reentered the club, and fired a single shot on the dance floor. The state's theory of the case was that this shot struck and killed the decedent who was standing near a wall on the dance floor. However, there was some evidence that another person was in the club that night with a firearm and was also shooting.

Petitioner, who took the stand in his own defense, testified that he was dancing on the dance floor with his girlfriend when he saw his friend, Michael McIlwain, in an argument with another man, Charles Miller, across the dance floor.¹ Petitioner explained that he went over to McIlwain and asked him, "What's going on?" McIlwain tried to explain what happened, but Petitioner could not hear him because the music was so loud. Petitioner then said he was "having a few words" with Miller's group "as far as ain't nobody going to do nothing to anybody," when somebody grabbed his arm, spun him around, and punched him in his right eye. He testified that as soon as he was hit,

¹ Michael McIlwain's last name is also spelled MacElwane and McElwain in various places in the record.

he began to fall backward and was struck by a second person on the left side of his jaw. After he fell to the floor, the two men continued to strike him while Petitioner “covered [him]self up.” App. 306, l. 14 – 308, l. 7; App. 311, l. 13 – 313, l. 14.

Petitioner testified that eventually the fighting stopped, but he was uncertain as to why the men suddenly stopped assaulting him. After he was helped up off the floor, Petitioner explained he was walking off the dance floor when, near the bar, he saw a man strike another one of his friends, Shawn Robinson, who fell face first to the floor. As he was helping Robinson up, he was pushed down by a man near the bar. He was eventually able to help Robinson up and was “pulling him towards the side door” when a man “hit [him] in the back of [the] head” . . . which “caused [him] to drop to the floor.” Finally, Petitioner was able to make it outside the club. App. 313, l. 15 – 315, l. 17

Once outside, Petitioner testified that he walked to the car he came to the nightclub in, retrieved a gun from the backseat, and reentered the building. He explained that he went back into the club “to get my friends out, but at the same time I didn’t want them to assault me any further.” App. 317, ll. 6-12. He said, “As I walked [to] the dance floor . . . I looked in the corner where I [had been] dancing with my girlfriend. I didn’t see her . . . As I was looking to the right side of the club I [saw] something with a very shiny effect which I feel was a handgun. I still to this day feel it was a handgun being raised in my [direction].” App. 320, ll. 11-20. When he saw what he thought was a gun, Petitioner fired a shot “in the right side upward corner.” App. 321, ll. 23-25; App. 322, l. 14. As soon as he shot, Petitioner testified that he turned and ran back out the same door he entered. App. 322, ll. 17-19.

David Evans, the first state witness, testified that he was employed by Club Matrix as a bouncer, but he was there on the night of the shooting as a patron because it was his birthday.

However, when a fight occurred on the dance floor Detective Larry Brown asked him to assist. Evans said that he stood near the bar with McIlwain as Detective Brown escorted a man named Rick out of the club.² He continued, “After that Mr. Watts [Petitioner] and two ladies was coming from the dance floor towards the front of the club . . . [M]oments later another staff member was dragging another person out that he was found on the dance floor unconscious.” Evans claimed he did not know who was dragged out of the club, but “[b]y that time someone screamed, ‘He’s got a gun. He got a gun.’ And the side entry, the subject [Petitioner] came in with a handgun.” App. 44, ll. 8 – 46, l. 10.

Evans testified that Petitioner “stood approximately four to 5 feet away from me and was looking around like he was looking, searching for someone. He walked towards the back towards the dance floor . . . stopped looked towards his right. He started saying some words, raised the handgun up. I could see it was somebody in the corner. I couldn’t tell who it was. And at the time he just said - - I could see he was mumbling something and then he fired one shot.” App. 47, l. 20 – 48, l. 6.

Tyrone Miller, who testified for the state, explained that he was in the nightclub when he witnessed his cousins, Dewayne Miller, Charles Miller, and Kevin Johnson in a physical altercation. Shortly thereafter, Tyrone claimed that a man, who he later identified as Petitioner, “came to me with a gun. A black pistol in his hand and pointed at my head and asked me who hit him. And I told him I hadn’t seen him . . . shortly after that I walked to the men’s bathroom. I heard a shot fired.” App. 93, l. 12 – 95, l. 8

Charles Miller, another state witness, testified that he was at the club when he noticed a “belt buckle” on the floor so he picked it up thinking it belonged to his brother. A man came up to

² Rick Simpson was Petitioner’s friend who drove Petitioner to the club that evening.

him and asked him, “[W]hat the hell you doing with my belt?” During this verbal dispute, Charles claimed Petitioner approached and asked, “What’s popping? And . . . my cousin came up and said, ‘Man, you know what’s popping,’ and they just started swinging and start swinging.” App. 103, l. 10 – 104, l. 24. Charles testified that after the fight broke up, Petitioner came through the club with a gun and “then [he] heard a shot and [he] took off running . . .” He did not actually see the shooting. App. 105, l. 3 – 106, l. 12.

Kevin Johnson testified that Charles was dancing on the dance floor when he saw a “belt buckle on the floor.” Charles “told the girl [he was dancing with] to pick it up. And a few gentlemen [including Petitioner] approached Charles talking about a belt buckle and then the altercation started - - [they] started fighting.” Johnson claimed that after “blows” were exchanged, security broke up the fight and escorted Petitioner outside. According to Johnson, Petitioner then returned to the club and “came in shooting.” App. 127, l. 17 – 129, l. 1. Johnson said, “He fired some rounds into the dance floor area and that’s when I ran out the club.” App. 130, ll. 12-13. He did not see the decedent get shot. App. 132, ll. 5-16.

Dewayne Miller, also a state witness, testified he and his cousin, Charles, were “dancing with two females” when Charles saw “a belt laying on the floor similar to his brother’s belt. And he picked the belt up.” Dewayne claimed “some little black guy come up” and “got to fussing, cussing, for no reason.” Then, according to Dewayne, Petitioner came up and asked, “What’s popping,” and then swung first. He and Petitioner “got tangled or whatever fighting . . . probably about . . a good 50 seconds.” Dewayne testified that security broke up the fight and escorted Petitioner out, but then Petitioner reentered the club “with a handgun.” He claimed Petitioner “walked straight up to [his] cousin and put the gun in his face and said, ‘Where’s that nigger at that hit me?’ Those exact words. And my cousin replied, ‘What nigger? I don’t even know what you’re

talking about?’ And as he turned away from Tyrone I jumped over the bar and took cover and I heard a gunshot . . . but after that happened I didn’t see anything else or know nothing else.” He did not see Petitioner shoot. App. 142, l. 14 – 145, l. 24.

Tameka Austin testified that a fight started between Petitioner and Dewayne and that security took Petitioner outside. She claimed, “I remember him [Ppetitioner] entering back in the club and shortly after that gunshots started going everywhere.” However, she did not see the shooting. App. 165, l. 17 – 167, l. 6.

Investigator Larry Brown, who was employed with the Pageland Police Department, but was working as private security the night of the shooting, testified that he “was talking to the DJ about something” when he saw fighting on the dance floor. He explained that security broke up the fight and he escorted a man named Ricky out of the club. App. 186, l. 14 – 188, l. 6. Brown claimed while he was standing out front, he saw Petitioner come “out the door in a rush” and he “rushed by us.” Petitioner got into his car and sat in the back passenger seat. Brown testified that Petitioner then got out of the car with a gun in his right hand and approached the door to the club. Brown heard a “click, click” as Petitioner entered the club. App. 188, l. 15 – 190, l. 4. However, he did not see what happened inside the club. App. 209, ll. 17-24.

Crystal Jones, Petitioner’s girlfriend, testified for the defense. She explained that she was on the dance floor dancing with Petitioner when she saw McIlwain and Charles arguing about a belt. She said she told Petitioner to go over there to “see what was going on and to stop it . . . So he [Ppetitioner] went over there and next thing I know Charles Miller hit him and Fuzz [Charles Miller’s cousin] came over and jumped on him.” App. 284, l. 25 – 286, l. 24. After the fight ended, Jones claimed Petitioner never left the club before she heard gunshots. She maintained Petitioner would

not have had time to go to the car and come back before she heard the gunshots. App. 286, l. 25 – 287, l. 25.

At the conclusion of the testimony, no lesser included offenses were requested by trial counsel nor charged to the jury. See App. 381, l. 17 – 399, l. 20; see also App. 401, l. 21 – 402, l. 18. While the jury was deliberating, it sent a handwritten note to the court asking, “Do we have to stick to the charge against Michael Watts or can they be lessor charges?” App. 403, ll. 16-17. In response, the trial court instructed the jury, “In this case there is no charge to you of any possible lessor included offenses.³ You have to base your decision on the charge before you and on the evidence that has been presented to you in Court.” App. 405, ll. 14-19.

The jury subsequently found Petitioner guilty of murder. App. 411, ll. 16-19.

PCR Hearing

Trial counsel, Jimmy Rogers, testified at the PCR hearing that he could not recall why he did not request a jury instruction on voluntary manslaughter. App. 457, ll. 19-25. He said, “I don’t remember what happened . . . I can’t tell you why I did not request one.” App. 460, ll. 18-24. However, he agreed that the facts presented at trial were that there was a verbal altercation over a belt buckle that escalated into a fist fight, that Petitioner was struck twice during this altercation, got “put out of the club, goes to the car and gets a gun, and comes right back in and shots ensure leading to these charges.” App. 458, ll. 3-16. Rogers said he could not recall whether he considered that there was no substantial cooling off period between the time of the initial physical altercation and the shooting. He also could not recall whether he considered requesting a voluntary manslaughter

³ The incorrect spelling of lesser is presumably an error made by the court reporter as there are numerous other errors throughout the trial transcript.

charge on the basis that Petitioner acted during a “sudden heat of passion based upon sufficient legal provocation.” App. 458, l. 17 – 459, l. 5.

Petitioner testified that trial counsel never discussed with him the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter. However, he maintained that if he would have understood he could request a voluntary manslaughter charge based purely on the fact that at least one reasonable interpretation of the evidence was that he acted in the sudden heat of passion upon sufficient legal provocation, he would have wanted that jury instruction. App. 487, l. 22 – 488, l. 16; see App. 493, ll. 2-7.

Order of Dismissal

The PCR court held Petitioner “failed to meet his burden of proving trial counsel should have requested” a jury charge on voluntary manslaughter finding the charge was not “supported by the facts of this case.” The court summarized its view of Petitioner’s account of events as follows: “[Petitioner] stated he left the club, got a weapon, and went back into the club while holding his weapon. [Petitioner] said he believed someone pointed a gun at him, so he fired into a crowd of people in order to protect himself.” The court concluded a voluntary manslaughter charge was not “warranted under these facts.” App. 514-515.

Discussion

Petitioner’s Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to the effective assistance of counsel were violated when trial counsel failed to request a jury instruction on voluntary manslaughter where there was evidence Petitioner fired his weapon in the heat of passion after he was struck several times during the altercation at the nightclub (a sufficient legal provocation). See State v. Locklair, 341 S.C. 352, 359, 535 S.E.2d 420, 424 (2000).

In order to show ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, Petitioner must prove that “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that

the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984); see also Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-688.

A two-pronged test is used in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. Petitioner must prove that counsel’s performance was deficient and fell below reasonable professional norms; and there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result would have been different. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117-118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial. Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997).

In this case, trial counsel’s performance was deficient, as it clearly fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. See Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-688. Trial counsel should have requested a jury charge on the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter because there was evidence in the record to support the charge.

In determining whether the evidence required a charge on voluntary manslaughter, this Court views the facts in the light most favorable to the defendant. State v. Byrd, 323 S.C. 319, 474 S.E.2d 430 (1996). “To warrant a court eliminating the defense of voluntary manslaughter, it should **very clearly appear** that there is **no evidence whatsoever** tending to reduce the crime from murder to manslaughter.” State v. Lowry, 315 S.C. 396, 399, 434 S.E.2d 272, 273 (1993) (citing State v. Norris, 253 S.C. 31, 168 S.E.2d 564 (1969)) (emphasis added).

“Voluntary manslaughter is the unlawful killing of a human being in sudden heat of passion upon sufficient legal provocation.” Locklair, 341 S.C. at 359, 535 S.E.2d at 424 (quoting State v. Johnson, 333 S.C. 62, 508 S.E.2d 29 (1998)) (internal quotations omitted). “Both heat of passion

and sufficient legal provocation must be present at the time of the killing to constitute voluntary manslaughter.” *Id.* at 360, 535 S.E.2d at 424 (citing State v. Walker, 324, S.C. 256, 478 S.E.2d 280 (1996)). “Sudden heat of passion upon sufficient legal provocation that mitigates a felonious killing to manslaughter must be such as would naturally disturb the sway of reason, and render the mind of an ordinary person incapable of cool reflection, and produce what, according to human experience, may be called ‘an uncontrollable impulse to do violence.’” *Id.* (citing State v. Gardner, 219 S.C. 97, 64 S.E.2d 130 (1951)).

In this case, there was evidence Petitioner was sufficiently provoked when he was struck numerous times inside the nightclub and that, during the heat of passion, he immediately returned to the nightclub with a gun and shot the decedent. Petitioner testified that during the physical altercation, he was struck in the right eye, the left side of his chin, and the back of the head. He was also knocked to the ground twice. Moreover, there was evidence, and it was the state’s theory of the case, that **immediately** after being physically assaulted, Petitioner went to his car, retrieved a firearm, reentered the club, and opened fired on who he thought was the man who had struck him during the fight. This evidence supports a jury instruction on voluntary manslaughter and trial counsel was ineffective for failing to request the charge.

Petitioner was prejudiced because trial counsel’s deficient performance “so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” Butler, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 692). Specifically, Petitioner was prejudiced because trial counsel’s failure to request a jury instruction on voluntary manslaughter prevented the jury from considering this lesser included offense. Notably, during its deliberations, the jury sent a handwritten note to the court asking whether it could find Petitioner guilty of any lesser included offenses. Therefore, it is likely that if trial counsel would