STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM CHESTERFIELD COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran Jr., Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

DEC 8 2014

Appellate Case No. 2014-000302

S.C. Supreme Court

Michael Lamont Watts, Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina, Respondent.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOSHUA L. THOMAS
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 100777

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

QUESTION PRESENTED

Did the post-conviction relief judge properly find trial counsel was not ineffective in failing to request a jury charge on voluntary manslaughter where Petitioner was not entitled to the charge because he presented no evidence he was in a sudden heat of passion at the time he shot the victim?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In May 2005, the Chesterfield County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner for murder, two (2) counts of assault and battery with intent to kill, discharging a weapon into an occupied building, possession of a weapon in a public building, escape, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. (App. pp. 519-26; p. 11, lines 4-18). James P. Rogers, Esquire, (“trial counsel”) represented Petitioner. (App. p. 1). On July 30, 2007, Petitioner proceeded to trial before the Honorable Paul M. Burch and a jury. (App. p. 1). After the State rested its case, Judge Burch directed a verdict on one (1) assault and battery with intent to kill indictment and on the possession of a weapon in a public building indictment. (App. p. 273, line 15-p. 274, line 9). The jury found Petitioner guilty on the remaining indictments. (App. p. 411, lines 1-24). Judge Burch sentenced Petitioner to concurrent terms of life in prison without the possibility of parole for murder, twenty (20) years for assault and battery with intent to kill, five (5) years for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, and ten (10) years for discharging a firearm into an occupied building, and one (1) year for escape. (App. p. 416, line 8-p.417, line 2). Robert M. Dudek, Esquire, perfected Petitioner’s appeal in the form of an Anders¹ brief, and the South Carolina Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal on January 25, 2010. State v. Watts, Op. No. 2010-UP-019 (S.C. Ct. App. filed January 25, 2010).

Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief on July 2, 2010. (App. pp. 419-26). Tara D. Shurling, Esquire, represented Petitioner. (App. p. 432). The Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran Jr. (“the post-conviction relief judge”) convened an

¹ Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967)

evidentiary hearing on the application at the Darlington County Courthouse on July 16, 2013. (App. p. 432). The post-conviction relief judge denied relief in an order dated October 18, 2013, and filed October 23, 2013. (App. pp. 623-30).

ARGUMENT

I. Probative evidence supports the post-conviction relief judge's finding trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to request a jury charge on voluntary manslaughter.

Petitioner asserts the post-conviction relief judge erred by finding trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to request a charge on voluntary manslaughter. However, the trial record contains no evidence Petitioner was acting in a sudden heat of passion when he shot the victim. Therefore, the post-conviction relief judge properly found Petitioner was not entitled to a charge on voluntary manslaughter.

In a post-conviction relief action, the applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations in the application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985) (citing Griffin v. Martin, 278 S.C. 620, 300 S.E.2d 482 (1983)). Where the application alleges ineffective assistance of trial counsel as a ground for relief, the applicant must prove "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Id. (citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984)).

The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687; Turner v. Bass, 753 F.2d 342 (4th Cir. 1985); Marzullo v. Maryland, 561 F.2d 540 (4th Cir. 1977)). The Court strongly presumes trial counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690). The applicant must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989).

The Court applies a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of trial counsel. Id. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625. First, the applicant must prove trial counsel's performance was deficient. Id. Under this prong, the Court measures an attorney's performance by its "reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688). Second, trial counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Id. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

On appeal, this Court must affirm the circuit court's denial of post-conviction relief when there is probative evidence to support the findings of the circuit court. Wolfe v. State, 326 S.C. 158, 163, 485 S.E.2d 367, 369 (1997) (citing McCray v. State, 317 S.C. 557, 455 S.E.2d 686 (1995); Cherry, 300 S.C. at 115, 386 S.E.2d at 624)).

The post-conviction relief judge properly found Petitioner would not have been entitled to a charge on voluntary manslaughter because the trial record is devoid of any evidence Petitioner was acting in a sudden heat of passion when he shot the victim. "Voluntary manslaughter is the unlawful killing of a human being in sudden heat of passion upon sufficient legal provocation." State v. Starnes, 388 S.C. 590, 596, 698 S.E.2d 604, 608 (2010) (citing State v. Wharton, 381 S.C. 209, 672 S.E.2d 786 (2009)). Both sufficient legal provocation **and** a sudden heat of passion are required to mitigate a murder to manslaughter. Id. (citing Wharton, 381 S.C. at 215, 672 S.E.2d at 788). Petitioner devotes much discussion in his Petition to the fact he was assaulted prior to retrieving the gun from his car.² However, this discussion belies the fact he presented no

² Respondent notes much of the testimony regarding the extent of this alleged assault came in the form of Petitioner's testimony. Although Petitioner described a constant and extended assault, the remaining

evidence he was suffering under the heat of passion at the time he returned to the building. Id. at 597, 698 S.E.2d at 608 (“[A] defendant is not entitled to voluntary manslaughter merely because he was legally provoked.” (citing State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 647 S.E.2d 144 (2007))).

Petitioner testified at trial he returned to his car and retrieved a gun after being evicted from the building. (App. p. 316, line 22-p. 317, line 1). He testified he retrieved the gun to return to the building and gather his friends. (App. p. 317, lines 9-12). He testified he loaded the gun as he walked into the building in order to scare anyone who may have designs to hurt him. (App. p. 318, lines 15-21; p. 319, lines 13-16). Petitioner testified he did not return to the area where he was assaulted, but went to a different part of the building. (App. p. 320, lines 4-7). He then proceeded to search for his girlfriend. (App. p. 320, lines 12-17).

Petitioner’s actions after being evicted from the club do not demonstrate he was “overcome by a sudden heat of passion as would produce ‘uncontrollable impulse to do violence.’” State v. Walker, 324 S.C. 257, 260, 478 S.E.2d 280, 281 (1996). The mere fact Petitioner was engaged in an altercation prior to his eviction does not automatically entitle him to a voluntary manslaughter charge. Instead, his actions, in his own words, demonstrate he was calmly returning to the building in an effort to retrieve his friends. His actions in going to the car and retrieving a gun demonstrate calm reflection. State v. Cole, 338 S.C. 97, 102, 525 S.E.2d 511, 513 (2000) (“Even if Appellant had been in the heat of passion during the confrontation in his apartment, three to five minutes had passed in which he had time to go to his mother’s apartment and find his gun. Far from

eyewitnesses merely testified Petitioner was struck a few times while intervening in a fight between third parties.

passion, these actions indicate ‘cool reflection.’” (citing Walker, 324 S.C. 257, 478 S.E.2d 280)). Although the assault on Petitioner may have constituted adequate provocation, his actions after his eviction are not the product of a sudden heat of passions. Starnes, 388 S.C. at 599, 698 S.E.2d at 609 (“A person may act in a deliberate, controlled manner, notwithstanding the fact that he is afraid or in fear. Conversely, a person can be acting under an uncontrollable impulse to do violence and be incapable of cool reflection as a result of fear. The latter situation constitutes sudden heat of passion, but the former does not.”).

Furthermore, Petitioner’s testimony he fired a shot when he saw something he believed to be a gun does not entitle him to a voluntary manslaughter charge. Cole, 338 S.C. a 102, 525 S.E.2d at 513 (“On the contrary, by Appellant's own testimony, he shot at the men to scare them away. Appellant's testimony appears designed to support a charge of self defense, not heat of passion.”). According to Petitioner, he armed himself for protection, not to commit an act of violence. He did not testify he was angry as he returned to the building. State v. Rogers, 275 S.C. 485, 486, 272 S.E.2d 792, 793 (1980) (“Furthermore, appellant testified he was not angry when he shot the women, and the trial court determined there was no showing of heat of passion or provocation to warrant the requested charge. We conclude the facts of this case do not support a charge of voluntary manslaughter and the trial court did not err in refusing to so charge.”). According to Petitioner, he was not angry when he entered the building, he did not enter the building looking to do violence, and he did not shoot the victim out of anger. Under the factual scenario posited by Petitioner, he was not acting under a sudden heat of passion. State v. Smith, 391 S.C. 408, 413, 706 S.E.2d 12, 15 (2011) (“According to Smith, he was not enraged, incapable of ‘cool reflection,’ or acting ‘under an uncontrollable impulse to do

violence.’ Because of the absence of any evidence of heat of passion, the trial court properly declined the voluntary manslaughter charge.”). His actions of leaving the building, retrieving a gun, and returning to the building demonstrate he was acting rationally and with a purpose to **avoid** violence. See Starnes, 388 S.C. at 599, 698 S.E.2d at 609 (“Succinctly stated, to warrant a voluntary manslaughter charge, the defendant’s fear must manifest itself in an uncontrollable impulse to do violence.”); Cole, 338 S.C. at 102, 525 S.E.2d at 513 (“Appellant admitted that in the time between when Pennington and the victim went out the front door and he went out the back, he had ‘time enough for me to get my head together.’ Most significantly, the men had been gone for several minutes when Appellant shot and killed the victim.”); Walker, 324 S.C. at 260, 478 S.E.2d at 281 (“Because there was no evidence presented that Walker acted in sudden heat of passion, he was not entitled to a charge on voluntary manslaughter.”).

The mere fact Petitioner alleged he was assaulted in the building does not automatically render him incapable of calm reflection. See State v. Holland, 385 S.C. 159, 170, 682 S.E.2d 898, 904 (Ct. App. 2009) (“The requirement that we view the evidence in the light most favorable to the defendant does not allow us to throw out all reason from our analysis[.]” (citing Collins v. Bisson Moving & Storage, Inc., 332 S.C. 290, 504 S.E.2d 347 (Ct. App. 1998))). Thus, the trial record contains no evidence Petitioner was acting under a sudden heat of passion when he returned to the building and shot the victim. Because Petitioner was not entitled to a charge on voluntary manslaughter, he has not demonstrated trial counsel was deficient in failing to request one.³ See Palacio v. State, 333 S.C. 506, 514, 511 S.E.2d 62, 67 (1999) (no deficiency

³ Respondent is aware trial counsel’s testimony at the evidentiary hearing failed to articulate his reasoning for failing to request a voluntary manslaughter charge. Respondent submits this is yet another troubling

where “it would have been futile for Attorney to have made such arguments”). Likewise, Petitioner was not prejudiced by the failure to request a voluntary manslaughter charge because he was not entitled to one. Accordingly, the post-conviction relief judge properly found trial-counsel was not ineffective in this regard.

example of a competent attorney’s attempt to offer tailored testimony to his former client’s *post hoc* benefit. Such testimony is particularly troubling when, as the present case demonstrates, a non-credible Applicant requests relief based upon grounds wholly incompatible with the trial record, yet bolstered by his former competent attorney’s “failing to recall” his trial strategy. See Allen v. Mullin, 368 F.3d 1220, 1243 n.22 (10th Cir. 2004) (“The shifting sands of recent memory are an unstable foundation and [...] of dubious utility.”).

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent respectfully requests this Court deny the
Petition for Writ of Certiorari.